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*  (ConspiracyYo Obstruct an Official
* Proceeding)

+ Count 3: 18 US.C. 512( 2
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* Obstruct an Official Proceeding)

+ Count4: 18US.C.§241
+ (Conspiracy Against Rights)

INDICTMENT

“TheGrandJurychargesthat, at all times material to this Indictment, on or aboutthe dates

and at the approximate times stated below:

INTRODUCTION N
Past Terse Wo

1. TheDefendant, DONALDJ.TRUM(Wa)he fory-fithPresidentoftheUnited 0"
tates and a candidat fr re-<lecion in 2020,TheDefendant os the2020residential letion. Pe ¥

or
2. Despite having lost, the Defendant was determined to main in power, Soformore ©

thantwomonthsfollowingelectionday onNovember3,2020,the Defendantspreadliesthatthere

orfl a theDefensewrefs.Bu the Defendant peste sd widely
Goromp's scienter Chis Iku edge)

of wrongdoing
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disseminated them anyway—to make his knowingly false claims appear legitimate, create an

intense national atmosphereof mistrust and anger, and erode public faith in the administration of

the election.

. 3. TheDefendant had a right, like every American, to speak publiclyabout the

5 election and even toclaim,falsely, thatthere hadbeenoutcome-determinativefraudduringthe

ole electionandthathehadwon.He wasalsoentitledtoformallychallenge theresults oftheelection

©ra lawiul and appropriatemeans, or audits of the popular vote
of

ifstates orfilinglawsuitschallenging ballots andprocedures. Indeed, in many cases, the

Bob must |Defendant did pursue these methodsof contesting th election result. Hiseffortstochangethe
ice theEPEC outcomein anysatetroughrecounts, audits,olegal challenges were foamyunsccessul. Ty fron |ally hit ep!

—_ 4. Shortly after clection day, the Defendant also pursued unlawful means of

discounting legitimate votes and subverting the election results. Insodoing,theDefendant

perpetatedthreecriminalconspiracies:

a A“onlaydntnUeiSie by using dishonesty, fraud, and
© geceitto impair, obstruct, an defeat the lvwful federal government function

by which the resultsofthe presidential election are collected, counted, and

certified by the federal government, in violation of18U.S.C.§371;

(@ b. Aconspiracy 0cormuplyobstructandimped th January6congressional
proceeding at which the collected results of the presidential election are
counted and certified (“the certification proceeding”), in violationof18.
U.S.C.§1512(k); and

®= Aconspiracyagainsttherighttovoteandto haveone’s vote counted, in
violationof18US.C.§241.

Each of these conspiracies—which built on the widespread mistrust the Defendant was creating

through pervasive and destabilizing lies about election fraud—targeted a bedrock function of the

United States federal government: the nation’s process of collecting, counting, and certifying the

results ofthe presidential election (“the federal goverment function”).

2.
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Ie

018 Cot x O° (ConspiracytoDefraud theUnited States—18US.C.§37)
yesod 5. Theallegationscontainedinparagraphs1through4ofthisIndictmentarere-

% oe, allegedandfullyincorporatedherebyreference.
Wtet
0 ver ‘The Conspiracy

seer
6. FromonoraboutNovember14,2020,throughonoraboutJanuary20,2021,inthe

VME DistrictofColumbiaandelsewhere, the Defendant,
hee A—————ieet

DONALD J. TRUMP,

did knowingly combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with co-conspirators (knownand
known otheGrandJyfodefraud the United States by using dishonesty, fraud, and deceit to

impair, obstruct, and defeat the lawful federal government function by which the results of the

presidential election are collected, counted, and certified by the federal government.

3. Purpose of the Conspiracy

7. The purpose of the conspiracy was to overturn the legitimate res. ts of the 2020

presidential electionbyusing knowingly falseclaimsof election fraudtoobstruct the federal

governmentfunctionbywhichthose resultsarecollected,counted,andcertified.

‘he Defendant’s Co-Conspirators

8. The Defendant enlisted co-conspirators to assist him in his criminal efforts to

overturn the legitimate resultsof the 2020 presidential election and retain power. Among these

were:

Rudy | a Co-ConspiratorI,a ho was willing to spread knowingly false
Ci ian claims and pursue strategies that he Defendant's 2020 re-clection campaign

attorneys would not.
Town b. OoCongginneboomie devised and attempted to implement a
Eostmen strategy to leverage the Vice President's ceremonial role overseeing the

3.



Case 1:23-cr-00257-TSC Document 1 Filed 08/01/23 Page 4 of 45

certification proceeding to obstruct the certification of the presidential
election.

Sided e CoConsprnor afgtomebuboss unfounded claimsofelection fraud the
Powell Defendant privately acknowledged oothers sounded “crazy.” Nonetheless,
Sy the Defendant embraced and publicly amplified Co-Conspirator 3's

disinformation

4 CoConspiator4;aig5iesDepartmentoffalWho worked on civil
Jebvet iattersandwho, with the Defendant, attempted to use the Justice
Cox Department 0 open sham election crime investigations and influence state

legislatures with knowingly false claimsof election fraud.

Yaene™ e. Co-Conspirator5,an@ifomeyWho assisted in devising and attempting to
Seoro implementa plan to submit fraudulent slates of presidential electors to

Coe obstruct the certification proceeding.
nl

LEP CoConspintor6 poled coma io Helped implement 2 plan to
Bort omen? subTrudalent satesofpresidental lector o obstruct th certification
mile proceeding.

The Federal Government Function

9. The federal government functionbywhich the results of the election for President

ofthe UnitedStatesarecollected,counted, andcertified was establishedthroughthe Constitution

andtheElectoralCountAct(ECA)a federal law enactedin1887. The Constitution provided that

cts individuals called electors select the president, and tha each state determine fo itself how to

Wo” 5 appoint the electors apportioned o it. Through sate laws, cachof th ffy states and the District
d
a of Columbia chose to select their electors based on the popular vote in the state. After election

adoF | day, the ECA required each state to formally determine—or “ascertain —the electors who would©
represent the state’s voters by casting electoral votes on behalfofthe candidate who had won the

| popular vote, and required the executiveofeach sat 1 certify to the federal goverment the

| onitis of those electors. Then, an a dat setby the ECA, cach states ascertained clctors were

\ required to meet and collect the resultsofthe presidential election—that i, to cast electoral votes
~

based on their state’s popular vote, and to sendthir electoral votes, along with the sate executive's

as
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certification that they were the state's legitimate electors, to the United States Congress to be.

counted and certified in an official proceeding. Finally, the Constitution and ECA required that

on the sixtl ary following electionday, the Congress meet in a Joint Session for a

certification proceeding, presided over by the Vice President as President of the Senate, to count

the electoral votes, resolve any objections, and announce the result—thus certifying the winner of

the presidential election as president-elect. This federal government function—from the point of

ascertainment to the certification—is foundational to the United States’ democratic process, and

‘until 2021, had operated in a peaceful and orderly manner for more than130years.

Manner and Means

10. The Defendants conspiracy to impair, obstruct, and defeat the federal government

function through dishonesty, fraud, and deceit included the following manner and means:

a. The Defendant and co-conspirators used knowingly false claimsofelection
. fraud to get state legislators and election officials to subvert the legitimate

State[ple election results and changeelectoral votesforthe Defendant'sopponent,
ofh cals JosephR. Biden,Jr,toelectoralvotesfortheDefendant.That is,onthe

pretextofbaselessfraudclaims,theDefendantpushedofficialsincertain
states toignorethepopularvote;disenfranchisemillionsof voters;dismiss
legitimateelectors;andultimately,causetheascertainmentofandvoting
byillegitimate electorsinfavoroftheDefendant.

b. TheDefendant and co-conspirators organized fraudulent latesofclectors
vote: All lb in seven targeted.States (Atizons, Georgia, Michigan,Nevads,-New.

(wo igo Fake Mexico,Pennsylvania,and Wisconsin),attempting tomimic the procediirés.
etfora OM that he legitimate electors were supposed to follow under the Constitution

ar and other federal and state laws. This included causing the fraudulent
been electors to meet on the day appointed by federal law on which legitimate

electors were to gather and cast their votes; cast fraudulent votes for the
Defendant; andsign.certificates falsely representing thattheywere,

Falee Blech legitimate electors.Somtmiamdearswsrtiighet no uricpain 4based on the understanding that their votes would be used onlyi atid
Defendant su want
whichtheDefendant neverdid. The nspicatorsthen 170 or
caused thesefraudulentelectorstotransmit theirfalsecertificates (© the

ose
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Vice President and other government officials to be countediyiisste 3% SU Ss

© The Defendant and co-conspirators attempted to use the power and
authority of the Justice Department to conduct sham election crime
investigationsandtosenda letter to thetargetedstates thatfalselyclaimed

Wopze the DOT thaytheJusticeDepartmenthadidentified significantconcernsthatmay
Or forse ¢ have impactedthe election outcome; that sought to advance the Defendant's
du ent fraudulent elector plan byusing the JusticeDepartment'sauthority to
i falsely presentthe fraudulent electors as a valid altemativetothelegitimate

pune! electors;and that urged, on behalfofthe Justice Department, the targeted
states’ legislatures 10 convene to create the opportunity to choose the
fraudulent electors over the legitimate electors.

d. TheDefendant and co-conspirators attempted toenlist the Vice Presidentto
usehisceremonialrole at theJanuary 6certification proceeding to
fraudulentlyalterthe electionresults. First, using knowingly false claims

VP Pence ofelection fraud, the Defendant andco-conspirators attempted to convince
the Vice President to use the Defendant's fraudulent electors, reject
legitimate electoral votes, or send legitimate electoral votes to state
legislatures for review rather than counting them. When that filed, on the
morning of January 6, the Defendant and co-conspirators. repeated
knowingly false claimsofelection fraudto gathered supporters, falsely told
them tha the Vice Presidenthad the authorityto and might alter the lection
results, and directed them 10 the Capitol to obstruct the certification
proceeding andexertpressureontheVice President to take the fraudulent
actions he had previously refused.

©. After it became public on the afternoonof January 6that the Vice President
‘would not fraudulently alter the election results, large and angry crowd—
including many individuals whom the Defendant had deceived into

ieving the Vice Presi might change i —ol wally tre. ie1gthe Vice Presidentcould and might chang bint

arrude of % ensued,theDefendantand co-conspirators exploited:the disruption by
Ceprhol redoubling effortstolevyfalseclaimsofelectionfraudandconvince

MembersofCongresstofurtherdelaythecertification basedon those
din

The Defendant's Knowledge of the Falsity of His Election Fraud Claims

1. The Defendant, his co-conspirators, and their agents made knowingly false claims

that there had been outcome-determinativ fraud in the 2020 presidential election. These prolific

“6-
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lies about election fraud included dozensof specific claims that there had been substantial fraud

in certainstates, such as that large numbers of dead, non-resident, non-citizen, or otherwise

ineligible voters had cast ballots, or that voting machines had changed votes for the Defendant to
—Srp

ote forBiden Thes D¢ were false] Tn act, 1

theDefendantwasnotifiedrepeatedly that hisclaimswereuntrue—oftenby thepeopleonwhom it 2 I
) ato bellherelied forcandidadviceonimportantmatters,andwhowerebestpositionedtoknowthefacts —

andhedeliberatelydisregardedthetruth.For instance:

a. The Defendant's Vice President—who personally stood to gain by
@ As remaining in office as part of the Defendants ticket and whom the

Pert ¢os Defendant askedtostudyfraudallegations—told the Defendantthathehad
- seenno evidenceofoutcome-determinativefraud.

ard b. ‘The senior leaders of the Justice Department—appointed by the Defendant
pod and responsible for investigating credible allegationsofelection crimes—

adwot told theDefendanton multipleoccasions thatvarious allegationsoffraud
were unsupported.

©. TheDirectorofNationalIntelligence—the Defendant's principal advisor
DRL on intelligence matters related to national security—disabusedthe
sand #0 Defendant of thenotion.that the.Intelligence.Community's.findings
fvasd regardingforeigninterference wouldchangetheoutcomeoftheelection.

d. The Department of Homeland Security's Cybersecurity and Infrastructure.
g Security Agency(“CISA”)—whose existence the Defendant signed into

CASA OIeelV law to protect thenation’s cybersecurity infrastructure from attack—joined
 (yebs an official multi-agency statement thattherewasnoevidenceanyvoting

gins ambleddistbe enttonn
sound no secureinAmerican history.” Dayslate,afte the CISA Director—whom
Frond. the Defendant had appointed—announced publicly that election security

experts were in agreement that claims of computer-based election fraud
were unsubstantiated,theDefendantfiredhim.

wel & Senior WhiteHouseattomeys—selectedbytheDefendanttoprovide him
eh Coun candid advice—informedtheDefendantthattherewasnoevidenceof
sod reww outcome-determinativeelectionfraud, and told him that his presidency

fro would end on Inauguration Day in 2021.

oT
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f Seniorstaffers onthe Defendant’s2020 re-electioncampaign(“Defendant's
Campaign”or“Campaign”y—whosesolemissionwasthe Defendant'sre-
election—toldtheDefendantonNovember7,2020,that hehadonly afive
to ten percentchanceofprevailingintheelection, and that success was
contingent on the Defendant winning ongoing vote counts or litigation in
Arizona,Georgia, and Wisconsin. Within a weekof that assessment, the
Defendant lost in Arizona—meaning he had lost the election.

es Ss gino sndoie wary of whom were the Defendant's
political allies, had voted for him, and wanted him to be re-clected—

repeatedlyinformedtheDefendantthathisclaimsoffraudintheirstates

them. Budfoferipese CGA)
h. Stateandfederalcourts—the neutral arbiters responsible for ensuring the

airandeven-handed administration ion lawsYe Courts fair and even- hande ‘administration of election lay s—rejected every

sod no Singimine ymca tielisbnos conspirators,andallies,providingtheDefendantreal-timenoticethathis.
Brand. allegationsweremeritless,

12. The Defendant widely disseminated his false claims of election fraud for months,

despite the fact that he knew, and in many cases had been informed directly, that they were not

wee. ThoQefeusntsfnowinglySsesementswarstogatirerimimlplstodoshe

have theirvotescounted. He made these knowingly fase claims throughout the post-election time.

period, including those below that he made immediately before the attack on the Capitol on

January 6:

a ‘TheDefendantinsinuated that more than ten thousand des
Teomp's in Georgia. J o's
oe explain Bro Raffersperses)

ts b. The Defendant asserted that there had been 205,000 more votes than voters
Stoarmen in Pennsylvania. TheDefendant's ActingAttorneyGeneralandActing

+ DeputyAttorneyGeneralhadexplainedtohim thatthiswasfalse.

vide nee of o The Defendant said that there had been a suspicious vote dump in Detroit,
Trop [CROUARY Michigan. HERws e

ney wert ol
Lies

-8-



Case 1:23-¢r-00257-TSC Document 1 Filed 08/01/23 Page 9 of 45.

statelegislature —the Speakerofthe Houseof Representatives and Majority
Leader of theSenate—hadpubliclyannouncedthat therewasnoevidence
ofsubstantialfraudinthestate.

d The Defendant claimed that there had been tensofthousandsofdouble
votesandother fraudinNevada. TheNevadaSecretary.ofStatehad
previouslyrebutted theDefendantsfraud claimsbypublicly postinga
“Facts vs. Myths”document explaining that Nevada judges had reviewed
and rejected them, and the Nevada Supreme Court had rendered a decision
denying such claims.

Tom © TheDefendantsaid thatmorethan 30,000non-citizenshadvoted invor 1 Arizona.TheDefendant'sown CampaignManagerhadexplainedtohim
es thatsuchclaimswerefalse, and theSpeakeroftheArizonaHouseof

Representatives,who had supported the Defendant in the election, had
Tr issuedapublicstatement thatthere wasnoevidenceofsubstantialfraud inors Arizona.

evidon®ont| TheDefendantasserted thatvotingmachinesi variouscontestedstateshad.
Teak We ed-votesTom Hi DIEFIRT to"Biden y— switc from TheDefendant'sAttorneye )oe General,ActingAttorney General,and ActingDeputyAttorney Generalall

Arty hadexplainedtohimthatthiswasfalse,and numerous recounts and audits
had confirmed the accuracyof voting machines.

The Criminal Agreement and Acts to Effect the Object of the Conspiracy

The Defendant'sUse ofDeceit to Get Sate Officials to
Subvert the Legitimate Election Results and Change ElectoralVotes

13. Shortly aftrclectionday—whichfellonNovember3,2020—theDefendant

launchedhiscriminalscheme. OnNovember13,theDefendant'sCampaignattorneysconceded

| in court hathehadost th vote outnthe stateofArizons—meaning, based on the assessment
the Defendant's Campaign advisors had given him just a week earlier, the Defendant had lost the

Giuliani)lection. So the nex da, the Defendant ured to CS-CoppIor 1, whom he announced would

speahead his efforts going forwardtochallenge the election results. From that point on, the

Defendantandhisco-conspiratorsexecutedastrategy touseknowing deceitinthetargetedstates

toimpair,obstruct,anddefeatthefederalgovernmentfunction,includingasdescribedbelow.

-9-
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Lona] —
14. OnNovember13, 2020,theDefendanthadaconversation withhis Campaign

Manager,whoinformedhimthataclaimthathadbeen circulating,thatasubstantialnumberof

non-citizenshadvotedinArizona,wasfalse.

15. OnNovember22, cight days before Arizona's Governor certified the ascertainment

of the state’s legitimate electors based on the popular vote, the DefendantandCo-Conspirator|
C Rusty Bowers.al

electionfraud aimedatinterferingwiththeascertainmentof andvotingbyArizona'selectors, as

follows:

a. TheDefendantandCo-Conspirator |falselyasserted,amongotherthings,
thatasubstantialnumberofnon-citizens,non-residents,anddeadpeople.
hadvotedfraudulentlyinArizona. TheArizonaHouseSpeakeraskedCo-
Conspirator1forevidenceoftheclaims,whichCo-Conspirator1didnot
have,butclaimedhewouldprovide.Co-Conspirator|neeushy everdidso.

Bowes | ToeSend ontCotnapase hud th dons HoneSpas
Deny 1AY call thelegislatureintosessionto hold ahearingbasedon theirclaimsof

Y electionfraud.TheArizonaHouseSpeakerrefused, sating that doing so
Tromp would require a two-thirds vote of its members, and he would not allow it

‘without actual evidence of fraud.

¢. TheDefendantandCo-Conspirator|asked theArizonaHouseSpeakerto
use thelegislaturetocircumventtheprocessbywhichlegitimateelectors
‘wouldbeascertained forBidenbasedonthepopularvote,andreplacethose
electorswithanewslatefortheDefendant. TheArizonaHouseSpeaker
refused, responding that the suggestion was beyond anything he had ever
heard or thoughtofas something within his authority.

16. OnDecemberI,Co-Conspirator|metwiththeArizonaHouseSpeaker. When the

Arizona House Speaker again asked Co-Conspirator 1 for evidenceof the outcome-determinative

election fraud he and the Defendant had been claiming, Co-Conspirator | responded with words

10 the effect of, “Wedon’thavetheevidence,butwehavelotsof theories.”

S0-
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17. OnDecember4,the ArizonaHouseSpeakerissuedapublicstatementthat said, in

part:

No election is perfect, and if there were evidenceofillegal votes or
an improper count, then Arizona law provides a process to contest
the election: a lawsuit under state law. But the law does not
authorize the Legislature to reverse the resultsofan election.

As a conservative Republican, I don’t like the results of the
presidential election. |votedfor PresidentTrumpandworkedhard
toveclect him.ButIcannotandwillnotentertainasuggestionthat° asad

1 and my fellow legislators swore an oath to support the U.S.
Constitution and the constitution and lawsof the stateof Arizona. It
would violate that oath, the basic principles of republican
government, and the rule of law if we attempted to nullify the
peoples vote based on unsupported theories of fraud. Underthe
laws thatwewroteandvotedupon,Arizonavoterschoosewho
‘wins, andour systemrequiresthattheirchoicebe respected.

John Eoshnan
18. Onthe momingof January 4, 2021,Co-Conspirator2calledthe ArizonaHouse

Speakertourgehim10use.amajorityofthelegislature to decertiythesate’slegitimate electors.
Arizona's validly ascertained electors had voted three weeks earlier andsenttheir votesto

Congress, which was scheduled to count those votes in Biden's favor in just two days’ time at the

January 6 certification proceeding. When theArizona.HouseSpeakerexplained thatstate
investigationshaduncoverednoevidenceofsubstantialfraudinthe state,Co-Conspirator2

concededthathe “{didn’t]knowenoughaboutfactsontheground”inArizona,butnonetheless

toldtheArizonaHouseSpeakertodecertifyand “letthecourtssortit out” The ArizonaHouse
‘Speaker refused,stating that he would not “play with the oath” he had taken to uphold the United

States Constitution and Arizona law.

19. On January6,theDefendantpublicly.repeatedtheknowingly false claimthat

ae
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fauna]
20. OnNovember16,2020, on theDefendant's behalf,his executive assistant sentCo-

(Sidney Pour)

company,writing, “See attached —Pleaseinclude asis,oralmostasis, inlawsuit” Co-

Conspirator 3 responded nine minutes later, writing, “IT MUST GO IN ALL SUITS IN GA AND

PA IMMEDIATELY WITH A FRAUD CLAIM THAT REQUIRES THE ENTIRE ELECTION

TO BE SET ASIDE in those states and machines impounded for non-partisan professional

i (Powe tt . .inspection.” On 125, theGovernorofGeorgia

falselyalleging“massiveelectionfraud”accomplishedthroughthevotingmachine company’s

electionsoftwareandhardware. Before the lawsuit was even fled, the Defendant retweeted a post

promoting it. TheDefendantdid.this despitethe fact thatwhen he had.discussed Co-
Tro? i . pat

i |Conspirator3'sfar-fetchedpublicclaims regardingthevoting machinecompanyinprivatewithso S

09s, 1 ti,theDonnudcnc nt sey vorspp and ha CoConstr3wo!
sounded“crazy.” Co-Conspirator3's GeorgialawsuitwasdismissedonDecember 7.

5 on Qia\iant

SubcommitteeoftheGeorgia StateSenate,withthe intentionof misleadingstatesenators into

blockingtheascertainmentoflegitimateelectors. Duringthe presentation:

a ‘Anagentof theDefendantandCo-Conspirator1falselyclaimed thatmorean cos Somr ANE {onc
tory D codows
supposed deadpeoplevotinginGA.isnotaccurate.. .. It was alleged in
[Co-Conspirator 1's] hearing today.” TheSenior Advisor clarified that he
believed that the actual number was 12.

Jack Smit b AnotheragentoftheDefendantandCo-Conspirator |playedamisleading

EE
tris video fiom ‘ofillegalballots.
Rafcrsperge’

C12-
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ym
legitimateelectorsbasedonfalseallegationsofelectionfraud.

22. AlsoonDecember3,theDefendant issueda Tweet amplifyingthe knowinglyfalse

claimsmadeinCo-Conspirator1'spresentationin Georgia:“Wow! Blockbuster testimony taking.

place right now in Georgia. Ballot stuffing by Dems when Republicans were forced to leave the

large counting room. Plenty more coming, but this alone leads to an easy winof the State!”

B. On Dgaiberd,theGeongla SesversyofSiie'sChisfOperatingOfficerdebunksd.
theclaimsmadeatCo-Conspirator1°spresentationthepreviousday,issuingaTweet stating,“The

90secondvideoofelectionworkersatStateFarm arena, purporting to show fraud was watched in

its entirety (hours)by @GaSecofState investigators. Showsnormalballotprocessing. Here is the

fact check on it.” On December 7, he reiterated during a press conference that the claim that there

had been misconduct at State Farm Arena was false.

2. OnDecnir3teDetndan: al heGersSoc mn presse

Wi tppona hestonlowsfedi sheSupremeCourtby anctbenstetsottormmygansre.
‘The GeorgiaAttorneyGeneraltoldtheDefendantthatofficialshadinvestigatedvariousclaimsof

electionfraudinthestateandwerenotseeingevidencetosupportthem.

25. Also onDecember, SenorCAsAber ohospoke with he Defodan
Even on adailybasisand hadinformedhimonmultipleoccasionsthatvariousfraud claimswere
Juten ;
Muller is unirue—expressed frustrationthatmanyofCo-ConspiratorIandhislegal team’sclaims couldnot.

Fell besubstantiated;Asearlyasmid-November,forinstance,theSenior CampaignAdvisorhad
Tevee
trere’s ro informedtheDefendantthathisclaimsofalargenumberofdead voters inGeorgiawere untrue.
Frontlin reopect tothe persistent false claim regarding State Farm Arena, on December 8, the Senior

Campaign Advisor wrote in an email, “Whenourresearchandcampaignlegalteamcan'tbackup
anyoftheclaimsmadebyourEliteStrikeForce LegalTeam,youcanseewhywe're0-32onour

NTH
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ce itillonalt tts os x
conspiracyshit beameddown from the. mothership.”

26. OnDecember10, four days before Biden's validly ascertained electors were

scheduled to cst votes and send them to Congress, Co-ConsplnGe| appeared at aheinbers
theGeorgiaHouseof Representatives’ GovernmentAffairs Committee. Co-Conspirator1played

the State Farm Arena video again, and falsely claimed that of

people’ eyes” and was “the tp of the iceberg”rh. Fen : or tre)

(Gruen baselesly accuse them of “quitecbviouslysurepiiousypassingaround USBpots as if hey
inte are vials of heroin or cocaine,” and suggested that they were criminals whose “places of work,

@B0F heie homes, should have been searched for evidence of ballots, for evidence of USB ports, for
trem.)

evidenceof voter fraud.”Thereafter,thetwoelectionworkersreceivednumerousdeath threats.

27. OnDecember 15, theDefendantsummonedtheincoming Acting Attomey General,
theincoming Acting Deputy Attorney General, andotherstothe OvalOffice to discuss allegations

of election fraud. During themeeting, the JusticeDepartmentoffficials ‘specif icallyrefutedthe

DefendantsclaimsaboutState FarmArena,explaining to him tha theactivityshownonthe tape:

CoConspiator1hadusedwas“benign.”
28. On December 23, a day after the Defendants Chief of Staff personally observed

the signature verification process at the Cobb County Civic Center and notified the Defendant that

state election officials were “conducting themselves inanexemplaryfashion” and would find fraud

if it existed, the Defendant tweeted that the Georgia officials administering the signature

verification process were tryingto hide evidenceofelection fraud and were “[t]errible people!”

29. na phonecallonDecember27,theDefendantspokewiththeActingAttomey
GeneralandActingDeputyAttomeyGeneral. During the call, the Defendant again pressed the

ue
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unfounded claims regarding State Farm Arena, and the twotopJusticeDepartmentofficialsagain

rebuttedtheallegations, telling himthat theJusticeDepartmenthadreviewed videotape and

interviewed witnesses,andhadnotidentifiedanysuspicious conduct. y tTwritten UES bey Tromp
30. onEI worn Csdspectet. Ho

allegationsmadeon hisbehalfinalawsuit filedinhisnameagainsttheGeorgiaGovernor. Tn P€)0A%)
asthmaadvance of the filing,CEE? whowasatin theDefendant onthe wi—

acknowledgedinanemailthatheandthe Defendanthad,sincesigningaprevious verification,

“been madeawarethatsomeofth allegations(and evidenceprofferedby theexperts)hasbeen

insecure”and thatsigninga.newaffimaion “wilh hatknowledge(andincorporationby
reference) would not be accurate.” The Defendant and Co-Conspirator 2 caused the Defendant'sgiveogtbe eure
signed verification to be filed nonetheless.

31. On January 2, four days before Cq 's certification proceeding,theDefendant

“Te andotherscalled Georgia'sSecretaryof State. Duringthecal, theDefendant liedtotheGeorgia F<.
Call” Secretaryof taetoinduce him1alterGergi'spopularvote countand al into questionte
= validityofheBiden electors”votes, whichhdbeentransmited 0Congresweeksbefore,Reflempegy

including as follows:
(u,%0
wt a. TheDefendantrased allegationsregarding theStateFarmArenavideoandcall) repeatedly. disparagedonc ofthe.same.election workers.thatCo-

Conspirator1hadmalignedonDecember10,usinghernamealmosttwenty

timesand falselyreferringtoheras“a professional votescammerand
hustler.” In response, the Georgia Secretary of State refuted this: “You're
talking about the State Farm video. And I think it’s extremely unfortunate
that [Co-Conspirator 1]orhis people, they sliced and diced that video and
took it out of context.” Wher i a

. ai aresa ir e

endeace fon'tcare abouta link,Idon’t need it.Ihave a.
tat Trump|much,[Georgia SecretaryofState],Ihaveamuchbetterlink.”
wes willFiy blind
Fo fre ful.

ise
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b. TheDefendantasked about rumors that paperballotscastintheclection
were being destroyed,and theGeorgia SecretaryofState’sCounsel
‘explained tohimthattheclaimhadbeen investigatedandwasnottrue.

.. ‘TheDefendantclaimedthat5,000deadpeoplevotedinGeorgia, causing
the Georgia Secretary of State to respond, “Well, Mr. President, the
challenge that you have is the data you have is wrong. . .. The actual number
were two. Two. Twopeoplethatwere deadthat voted. And50 [your
information]'swrong,thatwastwo.”

d. TheDefendantclaimed thatthousandsofout-of-state voters hadcastballots
imams ion tonGong SissengyofSuseCone
refuted, explaining, “We've been going through each of those as well, an
those numbers that we got, that [Defendant's counsel] was just saying,
they're not accurate. Every one we've been through are people that lived
in Georgia, moved to a different state, but then moved back to Georgia
legitimately... they movedback in years ago. Thiswas not like something
just before the election.”

Inresponsetomultipleotherofthe Defendant's allegations,theGeorgia
SecretaryofState’sCounseltoldtheDefendant tha theGeorgiaBureauof
Investigationwasexaminingall suchclaims andfindingnomerit tothe,

£ TheDefendantsaidthatheneededto“find”11,780votes, it
that

criminal prosecution if they failed to findelection fraudashedemanded,
stating, “And you are going to find that they are—which is totally illegal—

Trump Phireakening [108 Isitsmorellgal foryou thantisfor them becauseyouknowwhat
they didandyou'renotreportingit. That's a crimis 2

Rotiensperser | criminaloffense. And :
4 his counel isk to youandto [theGeorgiaSecretaryof State’sCounsel],yourlawyer.”

32. Thenextday,onJanuary 3,theDefendantfalsely claimedthattheGeorgia

SecretaryofStatehad not addressedtheDefendant'sallegations,publicly stating that the Georgia

Secretary of State “was unwilling, or unable, to answer questions such as the “ballots under table’

‘scam, ballot destruction, outofstate ‘voters’, dead voters, and more. He has no clue!”

33. OnJanuary 6,the Defendantpubliclyrepeatedthe knowingly falseinsinuation that

‘morethan10,300deadpeoplehad votedinGeorgia.

-l6-
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dnarged
(AG nese) MOS °S
lb fale cleo +

fm)
34. OnNovember5,2020,the Defendantclaimedthat there hadbeenasuspicious

dumpofvotes—purportedly.illegitimate ballots—stating, “In Detroit, there were hours of

unexplained delay in delivering manyof the votesforcounting. The final batch did not arrive until

four in the morningand—even though the polls closed at eight o'clock. So they brought it in, and

the batches came in, and nobody knew where they came from.”

35. On November20,three days before Michigan's Governor signed a certificate of

ascertainment notifying the federal government that, based on the popular vote,Biden'selectors

weretorepresentMichigan'svoters,theDefendant heldameeting intheOvalOfficewiththe.
Chat fied:

pennSE ARALTARofRepresentativesad heMoyLede ofthe Michigan
Senate.Inthemeeting, theDefendantraisedhisfalseclaim,among others,ofanillegitimate vote

Mire Shivkey)“dumpinDetroit. InronsonSESvs mermmsneteiat.

Ouch! | lost Michigannot becauseoffraud,butbecausetheDefendanthadunderperformedwithcertain

Ch voterpopulationsinthestate. Upon leaving their meeting, the Michigan House Speaker and

rip, Michigan Senate Majority Leader issued a statement reiterating this:
ne J)
ost The Senate and House Oversight Committees are actively engaged
— in a thorough review of Michigan's elections process and we have.

faith in the committee process {o provide greater transparency and
accountability 10 our citizens. We have not yet been made aware of
any information that would change the outcome of the election in
Michigan and as legislative leaders, we will follow the law and
follow the normal process regarding Michigan's electors, justas we.
have said throughout this election.

36. OnDecember1,theDefendantraisedhisMichiganvotedumpclaimwiththe
AttomeyGeneral,whorespondedthatwhathad occurredinMichiganhadbeenthenormalvote-

17-
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37. Despite this,the nextday,theDefendantmade knowinglyfl stement thatin
Mickigun, [Tal 6:31 in the morning, a vote dump of 149,772 votes came in unexpectedly. We

‘were winning by a lot. That batch was received in horror. Nobody knows anything about i.

10s corrupt. Detroitiscorrupt. 1 havealotoffriendsinDetroit,Theyknowit. ButDetroitis

totallycorrupt.”
Criuli ont’

38. OnDecember4,Co-Conspirator|sentatextmessagetotheMichiganHouse

‘Speaker reiteratinghisunsupportedclaimof lectionfraudandattempting togettheMichigan
HouseSpeakertoassistinreversingtheascertainmentof thelegitimateBidenelectors, stating,

“Looks like Georgia may well hold some factual hearings and change the certification under Artll

sec 1 cl 2 ofthe Constitution. As [Co-Conspirator 2] explained they don’t just have the right to

doit but the obligation. . .. Help me get this done in Michigan.”

39. Similarly, onDecember7,despitestillhaving establishednofraudin Michigan,

CoGonspiatondartaus nent fortheMichiganSensi Mofoity Leaders “Sobansdyao
passajointresolutionfromtheMichiganlegislaturethatstatesthat,*theelectionisindispute,*
there's an ongoinginvestigationby.theLegislature, and * the Electors sentby Govemor Whitmer

arenottheofficialElectorsof theStateofMichigananddonotfallwithintheSafe Harbordeadline
of Dec8underMichiganlaw.”

40. OnDecember 14—the day that electors in states across the country were required

0 vote and submit their votes to Congress—the Michigan HouseSpeakerandMichigan Senate.

MajorityLeaderannouncedthat,contrarytotheDefendant's requests,theywouldnotdecertify

the legitimateelectionresults orelectorsinMichigan. The Michigan Senate Majority Leader's

public statement included, “[ W]e have not received evidenceoffraud onascale that would change

ise
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the outcome ofthe election in Michigan.” The Michigan House Speaker's public statement read,

in part;

We've diligently examined these reports of fraud to the bestofour
ability...

1 foughthardfor President Trump.Nobodywantedhim towin

republic,too. 1 can’t fathom risking our norms, traditions an
institutions to pass a resolution retroactively changing the electors(ue Charheld)
for Trump, simply because some think there may have been enough
widespread fraud to give him the win. That's unprecedented for
good reason. Andthat’s whythereisnotenoughsupportinthe
Housetocastane

i So tre
§ 3

41. On January6,2021,theDefendantpubliclyrepeatedhisknowinglyflse claim

regardinganilicitdumpof morethan ahundredthousandballots inDetroit.

[romans]
42. OnNovember11,2020,theDefendant publicly.malignedaPhiladelphiaCity

Commissionerfor stating on.thenews.thattherewas.no evidence ofwidespread. fraud.in
Philadelphia. As aresult,the PhiladelphiaCityCommissionerandhisfamilyreceiveddeath

threats.

43. OnNovember25, the day after Pennsylvania's Governor signed a certificate of

ascertainment and thus certifiedtothe federal government thatBiden'selectors were the legitimate

Giuli oni
UT .. ———

statelegislators. Co-Conspirator1falselyclaimedthatPennsylvaniahadissued1.8million

absenteeballotsandreceived2.5millioninreturn. In the days thereafter, a Campaign staffer wrote

internally that Co-Conspirator 1's allegation was “just wrong” and “[t]here’s no way to defend it.”

194
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The Deputy Campaign Manager responded, “We have been saying this for a while. I's very

froseing:” (aga, Rs felling Trump “ro”
44. OnDecember4,after four Republican leadersofthe Pennsylvania legislature.

issuedapublicstatementthatthe General Assemblylackedtheauthority to overturnthepopular

voteandappoint itsownslate ofelectors,and that doing so would violate the state Election Code

and Constitution,theDefendant re-tweeted apost labelingthe legislatorscowards.

45. OnDecember31andJanuary3, theDefendantrepeatedly raised withtheActing.
AttormeyGeneralandActingDeputyAttorneyGeneraltheallegationthatinPennsylvania,there

hadbeen205,000morevotes thanvoters. Each time,theJusticeDepartmentofficials informed

theDefendantthathisclaimwasfalse.

46. OnJanuary6, 2021, theDefendantpubliclyrepeatedhisknowinglyfalseclaimthat
there had been205,000morevotesthanvotersinPennsylvania.

[Famare]
47. On November 29, 2020, arecount inWisconsinthat the Defendant'sCampaignhad

" . . ¢ got —

ussite) (div) dekminatiod of ro fraud)
48. OnDecember14,theWisconsin SupremeCourtrejectedanelectionchallengeby

the Campaign. One Justice wrote, “[N]othing in this case casts any legitimate doubt that the people

ofWisconsin lawfully chose Vice President Biden and Senator Harris tobe the next leaders of our

great county.”

49. OnDecember21,as resultof thestateSupremeCourt'sdecision,the Wisconsin

Governor—who had signed a certificate of ascertainment on November 30 identifying Biden's

electors as the states legitimate electors—signed a certificate of final determination in which he

20-
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recognized that the state Supreme Court had resolved a controversy regarding the appointment of

Biden's electors, and confirmedthat Bidenhadreceivedthe highest numberof votes inthestate

nhsblsdorterenoresbeswalenglimungion.
$0. That same day, in response to the court decision that had prompted the Wisconsin

Governor o sign a certificateoffinal determination, the Defendant issued a Tweet repeating his

knowingly false claimofelection fraud and demanding that the Wisconsin legislature overturn the

election results that had led to the ascertainmentof Biden's electors as the legitimate electors.

SI. OnDecember27,theDefendantraisedwiththeActingAttorneyGeneraland

ActingDeputyAttomey.Generalaspecificfraudclaim—thattherehadbeen morevolesthan
VotersinWisconsin. TheActingDeputyAttomey GeneralinformedtheDefendanttattheclaim

wasflse.

52. OnJanuary 6,2021,theDefendantpubliclyrepeatedknowinglyfalseclaims that

therehad been tensofthousandsofunlawfulvotesinWisconsin.
»* So “The Defendant's Use of Dishonesty. Fraud, and Deceit to Organize Fraudulent States ofElectors
wren official ‘and Cause Them to Transmit False Certificates toCongross
won't go along,
“Trump Ch OGY $3. As the Defendant's attempts to obstruct the electoral vote through deceit of state

SHVOGY "iia met with repeated failure, beginning in arly December 2020, heandco-conspirators
. . i; A

hadhewonthepopularvote,inseven targetedstates—Arizona, Georgia, Michigan, Nevada,New

Mexico,Pennsylvania,andWisconsin—andcausethoseindividualstomake andsend totheVie

PresidentandCongressfalsecertificationthttheywerelegitimatelector. Under th plan, the

submission of these fraudulent slates would create offscontvovers)at the certification

procguingandpostion theVice PresidemcoprosidinganJamsssy asPresidentofthe Senate

a1.
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to supplantlegitimateelectorswiththeDefendant'sfake electorsandcertify.theDefendantas

president.
RL ( \cennethn Chesebro)

$4. The plancapitalizedondeaspresentedinmemoranda drafed by Co-Conspiator 5,
anattorneywhowasassisting theDefendant's Campaign withlegaleffort related to @ recountin
Wisconsin. (Thememoranda volvedave imefrom legalsie 1preservethe Defendant's

rights 0acomupt plan tosubvertthefederalgovermentfunctionbystopping Bidenelectors”

otsfom bengcountedandciespafllows:

TCToenber18MemorandaNn)aoc
becauseof the angoingrecountinWisconsin, the Defendantselectorsthere.
shouldmeetandcastvotesonDecember14—the date theECArequired.
appointedelectorstovote—topreservethealternativeoftheDefendant’s
Wisconsinelectorslatein theeventtheDefendantultimatelyprevailed in

thestate.

b. TheDecember§Memorandum (‘FraudulentElectorMeng”) mked a
sharp departure from Co-Conspirator3's Wisconsin Memo, advocating that
the Saarigloo BV
insteadbeusedina numberofstatesasfraudulent electorsto preventBiden

fromreceiving the 270 electoralvotesnecessary to secur the presidency
on January 6. The Fraudulent Elector Memo suggested that the Defendant's

electorsinsi “contested” i ia, Michi
Nevada,Pennsylvania, i imi
possible the actions of thelegitimate Bidenelectors, and that on January 6,
the Vice President should open and count the fraudulent votes, setting up a
fake controversy that would derail the proper certification of Biden as.
president-elect.

© TieCommerSMenorantun(Tule ltr Intron
consis spi lent electors
couldmimiclegitimateelectorsin i
Pennsylvania,andWisconsin. Co-Conspirator 5 noted that in some states,
it would be virtually impossible for the fraudulent electors to successfully
take the same steps as the legitimate clectors because state law required
formal participation in the process by state officials, or access to official
resources

2
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55. “The plan began in carly December, and ulimately,theconspiratorsand.the

DefendantsCampaigntooktheWisconsinMemoandexpandedittoany statethattheDefendant
claimedwas“contested”—evenNewMexico, whichtheDefendanthadlostbymorethanten

percentofthepopularvote:Thisexpaion wa rstbyemit he Detter CHG FAAS)
sentonDecember 6, forwarding the WisconsinMemo (oCampaignstaffandwriting,“Wejust

re taesomeonecooing hecssrss C003 CareSg
56. OnDecember, theDefendant andCo-Consplraor 2called the man shine

RepublicanNational Committeetoensure thattheplanwasinmotion. During the call, Co-

Conspirator 2 told the Chairwoman that it was important for the RNC to help the Defendant's

Campaign gather electors in targeted sates, and falsely represented to her that such electors’ votes.

would be used onlyifongoing litigation in oneof the states changed the results in the Defendant's

favor. After the RNC Chairwoman consulted the Campaign and heard that work on gathering

electors was underway, she called and reported this information to the Defendant, who responded

approvingly.

son butternutfat

Posi,HogtorSgro Co Commlinme.|opieWilkGuCenlimel8sosnlinstimans
whocouldassistinthe fraudulentelector effor inthetargetedstates, andhereceivedfromCo-

Conspirator6 anemail identifyingattorneysinArizona, Georgia,Michigan,Nevada,NewMexico,

Pennsylvania,andWisconsin.

$8. The next day, onDecember8,Co-ConspiratorScalledtheArizonaattorneyonCo-

wi SoCoSeniliony:
1 just talked to the gentlem: i 9

zn.
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Je

| xan
Coven, o hatmembersofCongresconFightsoswhether) yas 1311 165°

C indofwild/creative -- I'm happy
to discuss. My comment to him was that I guess there’s no harm in

it, (legally at least) ~ i.e. we would just be sending in “fake”
electoral votes to Pence so that“someone” in Congress can makean

objection when they start counting votes, and start arguing that the
“fake” votes should be counted.

ii hh aa
Mama EE

our atari aunton of teWins Meolamatronsl dwinimi
fraudulentuseoftheDefendantselectors—andtheFraudulentElectorInstructions,alongwith

fraudulent electorcertificatesthathe haddrafied.

60. Thenextday,on December11,throughCo-ConspiratorS,Co-Conspirator 1

SpineSr smntuGRE ii,
jesBiome ; ues,

ith gation vas peninginthestate, provid over heconveningandvingof he west
Defendangs Taudutent Hector thre. Co-Conspirator 5 explained that Co-Conspirator 1 had

‘heard from a state official and state provisional electorthat “it could appear treasonous for the AZ

electors to vote on Mondayif there is no pending court proceeding... ."

61. To manage the planinPennsylvania, on December 12, Co-Conspirator 1, Co-

Conspirator $, and Co-Conspirator 6 participated in a conference call organized by the Defendant's

Campaign with the Defendant's electors in that state. When the Defendant's electorsexpressed

concer aboutsigningcertificates representingthemselvesaslegitimate clectors,Co-Conspirator |
falselyassured them thattheir certificates wouldbe usedonlyiftheDefendantsucceededin

ligation. Subsequently, Co-Conspirator circulatedproposed conditionallanguagetothat effect

-
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forpotentiinlesloninibeSadism olssincarifigys. A Compigneliilonglonstnote

offertheconditionallanguage to_otherstates because “(he other States are signing what he

prepared —if it gets out we changed the language for PA it could snowball.”Insomecases, the

62. On December 13, Co-Conspirator5 sent Co-Conspirator 1 an email memorandum

that further confirmed that the conspirators’ plan was not to use the fraudulent electors only in the

circumstance that the Defendant's litigation was successful in oneofthe targeted states—instead,

The T=aero

Pan Congress'scertificationproceeding.

63. On December 13, the Defendant asked the Senior Campaign Advisor for an update

on “what was going on” with the elector plan and directed him to “put out [5] statement on

electors.” Asa result, Co-Conspirator | directed theSenior Campaign Advisor to join a conference

call with him, Co-Conspirator 6, and others. When the Senior Campaign Advisor related these

developments in text messages to the Deputy Campaign Manager, a Senior Advisor to the

Defendant, and a Campaign staffer, the DeputyCampaign Managerresponded, “Here's the thing

thewaythishasmorpheditsa crazy play so 1 don't know who wants to put their name on it"

(TneSenior Advisorwee, “Centiying illegal votes”Jn tum theparticipantinthe group ext
messagerefused tohaveastatementregardingelectorsattributed to theirnamesbecause noneof

themcould“standbyit.”

64. Also onDecember13,ataCampaignstaffer’srequest, Co-Conspirator§drafted

andsentfraudulentelectorcertificatesfortheDefendant's electorsinNewMexico,whichhadnot

previously.beenamongthetargetedstates, andwheretherewasnopendinglitigation onthe.
Defendant'sbehalf. Thenextday,theDefendant's Campaignfiledanelection challengesuitin

25.
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NevMecoat11:54a.m,sixminusbefor the noon deadlinefrhelio votes Gs preent)fa
so ha herewaspending tigation the at the timethe fraudulent lector voed.

65. OnDecember14,thelegitimate electorsofall50 statesandtheDistrictof

Columbiametintheir respective jurisdictions toformally casttheir votesfor president, resulting

ina total0f232electoralvotesforthe Defendantand306 forBiden. The legitimate electoral votes

that Biden won in the states that the Defendant targeted, and the Defendant’s margin of defeat,

were as follows: Arizona (11 electoral votes; 10,457 votes), Georgia (16 electoral votes; 11,779

votes), Michigan (16 electoral votes; 154,188 votes), Nevada (6 electoral votes; 33,596 votes),

New Mexico (5 electoral votes; 99,720 votes), Pennsylvania (20 electoral votes; 80,555 votes),

and Wisconsin (10 electoral votes; 20,682 votes).

66. On the sameday,atthedirectionoftheDefendantandCo-Conspirator|,fraudulent

electorsconvenedshamproceedingsintheseven targetedsates to castfraudulentelectoralballots
infavoroftheDefendant. In some states, in order to satisfy legal requirements set forth for

legitimate electors under state law, state officials were enlisted to provide the fraudulent electors

access to state capitol buildings so that they could gather and vote there. In many cases, however,

as Co-Conspirator 5 had predicted in the Fraudulent Elector Instructions, the fraudulent electors

were unable to satisfy the legal requirements.

67. Nonetheless, as directedintheFraudulentElectorInstructions,shortlyafterthe

fraudulentelectorsmetonDecember14,thetargetedstates’fraudulentelectorcertificateswere

‘mailedtothePresidentoftheSenate,theArchivistoftheUnitedStates,andothers. ‘TheDefendant

andco-conspirators ultimatelyusedthe cetificatesof these fraudulentelectors to deceitfully target
thegovernmentfunction,anddidsocontrarytohowfraudulentelectorsweretoldtheywouldbe
ir

.26-
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68. Unlike those of the fraudulent electors, consistent with the ECA, the legitimate

electors’ signed certificates were annexed to the state executives certificates of ascertainment

before being sentto the Presidentofthe Senate and others.

69. That evening, at 6:26 p.m., the RNC Chairwoman forwarded to the Defendant,

through his executive assistant, an email titled, “Electors Recap— Final,” which represented that

in “Six ContestedStates" Arizona,Georgia, Michigan,Nevada,Pennsylvania,and Wisconsin—

the Defendant's electors had voted in paral] to Biden's electors. The Defendant's xceutve 7%! ©)

assistant responded, “It’s in frontofhim!”

he Defendant's Attempt to Leverage the Justice Department to Use Deceit to Get
State Officials to Replace Legitimate Electors and Electoral Votes with the Defendant's

70. InlateDecember2020,theDefendantattemptedto usetheJusticeDepartmentto

make knowingly falseclaims of election fraudtoofficialsin thetargetedstatesthrougha formal

letterunderthe ActingAttorneyGeneral'ssignature, thusgiving theDefendant'sliesthebacking

ofthe federalgovernmentandattemptingtoimproperlyinfluencethetargetedstatestoreplace

legitimateBiden elesors withtheDefendant's,
(Uc brvey Clot)

1. OnDecember22, theDefendantmet withCo-Conspirator 4attheWhite House.

‘Co-Canspirator 4 hadnotinformedhis leadershipattheJusticeDepartmentofthemeeting,which
wasaviolationoftheJusticeDepartment's writtenpolicy restricting contacts withthe White

Housetoguard againstimproperpoliticalinfluence.

72. OnDecember26,Co-Conspirator4spokeonthephonewiththeActingAttorney
6 0 . a 4

falselyclaimingsinghtthe meetingba«d beenunplanned.TheActing Attorney Generaldirected Co-

Conspirator 4nottohaveunauthorizedcontacts withtheWhiteHouseagain,andCo-Conspirator4

saidhewouldnot.

ER
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73. Thenextmorning,onDecember27,contrarytotheActing AttomeyGeneral's

direction,Co-Conspirator4spokewiththeDefendantontheDefendant’scellphonefornearly

threeminutes.

74. That afternoon,theDefendantcalledtheActing Attorney GeneralandActing

DeputyAttorney Generaland said, amongotherthings,“Peopletellme[Co-Conspirator4]is.

great. Ishould puthimin” TheDefendantalsoraisedmultiplefalseclaimsofelectionfraud,

‘whichtheActing AttorneyGeneral and Acting Deputy AttorneyGeneralrefuted. WhentheActing

Attorney General told the Defendant that the Justice Department could not and would not change

the outcomeofthe lection, the DefendantrespondedCustsaythat the lection wscormuptand3.

leavetheestomeandthe Republicancongressmen.”|
Clark)75. On D tadraftleertothe Acting Attorney

Generating Deut. torn Gonski be grogoned ony ol ign, TooSalone
wremmdamstate.coflicislsjnGeorgie,snd Co-Consrirator.&. propossdsending.veronsoliie

letterto.elected officialsinothertargetedstates. Theproposedlettercontainednumerous

knowinglyfalseclaims abouttheelection andtheJustice Department, including that:

. 2 The JusticeDepartmenthad“identified significantconcernsthatmayhave
CloAcs impactedthe outcomeoftheelectioninmultiple States[.]”
propoled . . "vom b. The Justice Department believed that in Georgia and other states, two valid
Lies slatesofelectors had gathered at the proper location on December 14, and
tne DOJ} that both sets of ballots had been transmitted to Congress. That is, Co-

Conspirator 4's letter soughtto advance the Defendant's fraudulent elector
plan by usi 0 lypresentthe
frau .

€ The Justice Department urg ie
legislative sessiontocreatethe opportunityto,amongotherthings,choose:

thefraudulentelectorsoverthelegitimateelectors.

28-



Case 1:23-¢r-00257-TSC Document 1 Filed 08/01/23 Page 29 of 45

76. The Acting Deputy AttorneyGeneralpromplyrespondedto Co-Conspirator4by

(Coma ahd1di thtbisproposedleevas ls,writing, “Despite dramatic claims 10 the

contrary, we have not seen the type of fraud that calls into question the reported (and certified)

results ofthe election.” In a meetingshortlythereafter,theActingAttorneyGeneralandActing

DeputyAttorneyGeneralagain directed Co-Conspirator4not tohaveunauthorized contactwith

theWhiteHouse.

7%. OnDecember31, theDefendantsummonedtothe Oval Ofies theActingAttorney

raised claimsaboutelectionfraudthatJusticeDepartment officials alreadyhadtold himwerenot
irae—andtha the senior Justice Deparmentofficial reiteratedwere false—andGuggesied he
might changetheleadershipinth Justice Deparment) Truvp Mhders DOT |ecd evship

78. On January2,2021, just four days before Congress's certification proceeding, Co-

Conspirator4 tried{5GoerceieActingAttorney Generaland Acting DeputyAttorney Generalto

signandsend Co-Conspirator4's draftletter,whichcontainedfalsestatements, 0stateofficials.

(HetoldthemthattheDefendantwasconsidering makingCo-Conspirator 4thenewActing

AtoreyGenera outthatCo-Conspiraor 4 would decline theDefendant'soffer iftheActing
AuomeyGeneralandActingDeputyAttorneyGeneralwouldagree(0 send theproposedletterto

the targetedstates. The JusticeDepartmentofficialsrefused.

79. The nextmorning,onJanuary3, despite having uncovered no additional evidence

ofelection faud, Co-Conspiator 4 sent 0. JusticeDepartmentcolleague an edited versionofhis

drat ete tothestate,whichincludedachangefromits previous claim that the Justice
Departmenthad“concerns”toastrongerfalse claimthat“[a]softoday,thereisevidenceof

Cote mode The proposed DOJ Lies Letter
avin Wwe here, Shuwng he lcacw
ir wes all lies,
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significant irregularitiesthatmayhaveimpactedthe outcome. of the election in mul ple

" ’

80. Also onthemorningofJanuary3,Co-Conspirator4 metwiththe Defendant atthe

frp Whit House—againwithout havinginformedsenior Justice Departmentofficals—and{acceped

makes theDefendant’ offer thathebecomeActing AttoreyGeneral]
Clox 6. .

Achng 81. On the afternoonofJanuary 3, Co-Conspirator4spoke with a Deputy White House

Counsel. Thepreviousmonth,theDeputy WhiteHouseCounselhad informed theDefendantthat

“there isno world,thereisnooptioninwhichyoudonotleavethe WhiteHousefol

January20th.” Now,thesameDeputyWhiteHouseCounsel tiedtodissuade Co-Conspirator 4
fromassumingtheroleofActingAttorneyGeneral. The Deputy White House Counsel reiterated

to Co-Conspirator4 that there had not been outcome-determinative fraud in the election and that

if theDefendantremainedinofficenonetheless,therewouldbe“riotsineverymajor cityinthe

Unie tates (Co-Comspitor responded,“Well (DeputyWhi HouseCounsellthswhy.
hee annsrectonAct”|

82. Also that afternoon, Co-Conspirator 4 met with the Acting Attorney General and

told him that the Defendant had decided to put Co-Conspirator 4 in charge of the Justice

Department. The ActingAttomeyGeneral respondedthathewouldnotacceptbeingfiredbya

83. On the eveningof January 3, the Defendant met for a brief ing on anoversess

nationalsecuritysuewiththeChairmanoftheJointChiefsofStaffandotherseniornational
security advisors.The Chairman briefed the Defendanton the issue—which had previously arisen

in December—as well as possible ways the Defendant could handle it. WideCommnal,

anotheradvisorrecommendedthattheDefendant take no action becauseInaugurationDaywas
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Impartent to show Trump \eew he had 10st,
onlyseventeen days awayandany courseofaction couldtrigger something unhelpful,the

( kite Hob terns ianteeSergi

ise
84. The Defendant moved immediately from this national security briefing to the

‘meeting that the Acting Attorney General had requested earlier that day, which included Co-

Conspirator 4, the Acting Attorney General, the Acting Deputy Attorney General, the Justice

Department's Assistant Attorney General for the Office of Legal Counsel, the White House

Counsel, a Deputy White House Counsel, and a Senior Advisor. At the meeting, the Defendant

expressed frustration with the Acting Attorney General for failing to do anything to overturn the

election results, and thegroupdiscussed Co-Conspirator4's plans to investigatepurportedelection

fraud and 10 send his proposed letter to state officials—a copy of which was provided to the

Defendant during the meeting. TheDefendantrelented inhisplantoreplacetheActing Attorney
_ ;

TetonBorman cy Wifi YovssCode,
85. At hemetingintheOval Office onth night of Janu.3,CoCRAG4

suggestedthatthe JusticeDepartmentshouldopine thatthe VicePresidentcouldexceed hislawful

authorityduringthe certificationproceedingandchangetheelectionoutcome. When the Assistant

Attorney General for the Office of Legal Counsel began to explain why the Justice Department

Should not do so, theBinsinbienste Saiisdi

Timp trying fo nok ler anyone Get to Pence.

ae
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f€ officials won't budge > DOT went give bio cow > Tere

heDefendant'sAttempistoEnlist theVicePresident to Fraudulent Alter he
Election ResultsattheJanuary 6 Certification Proceeding.

86. As the January 6 congressional certification proceeding approached and other

efforts to impair, obstruct, and defeat the federal government function failed, he Defendant sought

to enlist the Vice President to use his ceremonial role at the certification to fraudulently ater the

election result. The Defendantdid this first byusing knowingly falseclaimsofelectionfraud to.

convincetheVice PresidenttoaccepttheDefendant’s fraudulentelectors, reject legitimate

electoralvotes, orsendlegitimate electoral votestostatelegislatures forreview ratherthancount.
them.Whenthat filed,the Defendant atemptedtouseacrowdofsupporters thathehadgathered
inWashington,D.C,topressuretheVicePresidentto fraudulently altertheelectionresult.

87. OnDecember19,2020, after cultivating widespread anger and resentment for

weeks with his knowingly false claimsofelection fraud, the Defendanturgedhis supporters to.
Tre weltoWashingtononthedayofthecerifcationproceeding, testing,“BigprotestinD.C.on

Tweck January 6th. Bethere,willbewild!” ThroughoutlateDecember,he repeatedlyurgedhis

C1912). guppartestocometoWashingtonforJanuary 6.

88. OnDecember23,theDefendant re-tweetedamemotiled“Operation‘PENCE’

CARD,”whichfalsely assertedthattheVice President could,amongother things,unilaterally

“Slidingdui,

a plan fortheVicePresidenttounlawfullydeclare theDefendantthecertified winnerofthe
presidential lection. In the memorandum, Co-Conspirator 2 claimed that seven states had

transmitted two slatesofelectors and proposed that the Vice President announce that “because of

the ongoing disputes in the 7 States, there are no electors that can be deemed validly appointed in

those States.” Next, Co-Conspirator 2proposedstepsthatheacknowledgedviolatedtheECA,

“n-



Case 1:23-¢r-00257-TSC Document 1 Filed 08/01/23 Page 33 of 45

advocatingthat,intheend, “PencethengavelsPresidentTrumpas re-elected.” Just two months

earlier, on October 11, Co-Conspirator 2 had taken the opposite position, writing that neither the

Constitution nor the ECA provided the Vice President discretion in the countingof electoral votes,

or permitted him to “make the determination on his own.” ~ "
=D nf from Pere then 1 private” cals

A= 90. Onseveral privatephonecallsinlateDecemberandcarly January,theDefendant

repeatedknowinglyfalseclaimsofelectionfraudanddirectly pressuredtheVicePresidenttouse

iscarmonial rolea he ceifction proceedingonJanuary60fraudulently overum the results
oftheelection,andtheVicePresidentresisted,including:

a. ‘On December25,when the Vice President called the Defendanttowish him

2 Merry Christmas, the Defendant quickly.tumedthe conversationto
January6andhisrequesttha the VicePresident rejectelectoralvotesthat
day.TheVicePresidentpushedback, telling the Defendant, as the Vice
President already had in previous conversations, “You know I don’t think I
havetheauthorityto change the outcome.” % pore ep!:ol

: b. On :—fo nA ead ’ios noes, heDefendantflely tldthe Vi President tha the“JusticeDept
a N [was] indingmajorinfractions

hid Geren Fo eh. in oer te Donn odshe Vie Sei antbwmad
ow by wo of because hehad learned that the Vice President had opposed a lawsuit

era 2 seeking ajudicial decision that, at the certification, the Vice President had
Subpoena © the authority 10 reject or return votes to the states under the Constitution.

“The Vice President responded that he thought there was no constitutional
basis for such authority and that it was improper. In res; icDefendant

tol i sident,“You're100 honest” Within fours of tie
conversation, the Defendant rem is sup tomeetin Washington
buaproceeding, tweeting, “TheBIGProtestRally in

lt [21 Washington,D.C,willtakeplaceat11.00 A.M.onJanuary6th.Locational
fueet detailstofollow.StopTheSteal?”

d. On Janu ieDefendantagain told the Vice Presidentthat at the
certification proceeding, the Vice President had the absolute right toreject
electoral votes and the ability to overtum the election. The Vice President
responded that he had no such authority, and that a federal appeals court
had rejected the lawsuit making that claim the previous day.

233
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(Easrron)
91. On January 3, Co-Conspirator 2 circulated a second memorandum that included a

new plan under which, contrary to the ECA, the Vice President would send the elector slates to

thestate legislatures to determine which slate to count.

92. On January 4, the Defendant held a meeting with Co-Conspirator 2, the Vice

President, the Vice President'sChiefof Staff, and the Vice President's Counsel for the purpose of

convincing the Vice President, based on the Defendant's knowingly false claimsofelection fraud,

that the Vice President should reject or send to the states Biden's legitimate electoral votes, rather

than count them. The Defendant deliberately excluded his White House Counsel from the meeting.

because the White House Counsel previously had pushed back on the Defendant's false claims of

election fraud.

93. During the meeting, as reflected in the Vice President’s contemporaneous notes,

theDefendantmadeknowingly fls clamsof election fraud, including,“Bottom ine—won every
stateby100,0005ofvotes”and“We woneverystate,”andasked-—regarding claim his senior

Justice Department officials previously had told him was false, including as recently as the night

before—“What about 205,000 votes more in PA than voters?” The Defendant and Co-

Conspirator 2 then asked the Vice President to either unilaterally reject the legitimate electors from

the seven targeted states, or send the question ofwhich slate was legitimate to the targeted states’

legislatures. When the Vice President challenged Co-Conspirator 2 on whether the proposal to

return the question to the states was defensible, Co-Conspirator 2 responded, “Well, nobody's

tested it before.” The Vice President then told the Defendant, “Did you hear that? Even your own

counsel is not saying | have that authority.” The Defendant responded, “That's okay, I prefer the

other suggestion”ofthe Vice President rejecting the electors unilaterally.

ae
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94. AlsoonJanuary4,whenCo-Conspirator2acknowledgedtotheDefendant's Senior

Advisorthatno.court would supporthisproposal,theSenior AdvisortoldCo-Conspirator 2,
astm

“[¥]ou'regoingto.causeriotsinthestreets” SEAM sponte), dthat therehad
Eottmon

Pelouslyboonpoint inthematinshinywhereviolencewas necessary potgetHETepUBI; Justify ire
violence.

After that conversation, the Senior Advisor notified the Defendant that Co-Conspirator 2 had

conceded that his plan was “not goingto work.”

95. OnthemorningofJanuary S,attheDefendant'sdirection, theVicePresident's

ChiefofStaffandthe VicePresident's CounselmetagainwithCo-Conspirator 2. Co-.

Conspirator 2nowadvocatedthattheVicePresidentdowhattheDefendanthadsaidhepreferred

thedaybefore:unil During this meeting, Co-

Consprton 2privatelyschnowledged1 heVIESHRESAESunsetthahehopedtopreventEastinnew
judicial reviewofhisproposalbecauseheunderstood thatitwouldbeunanimously rejectedby 12. les)

the SupremeCour The ViePrsden'sCounselares 0Co-Consprtor2ttfollowing 2%"
throughwiththeproposal wouldresultina “disastroussituation”wherethe election might“have
0bedecidedinthestreets.”

96. Thatsumedug.thaDelindant cvusuragedspecs owovetoWasingion on
January6,andhesetthefalseexpectationthatthe VicePresidenthad theauthoritytoandmight

usehisceremonialroleatthe certification proceeding to reverse theelection outcomeinthe
Defendant's favor,includingissuingthefollowingTweets; (Trump's Socud media being

Ged ou even agent hm)
a ACIL06am,“TheVicePresidenthasthepowertorejectfraudulently

chosen clectors.” This was within 40 minutesofthe Defendant's earlier
reminder, “See you in D.C.”

b. AtS:05 p.m. “Washington is being inundated with people who don’t want
to see an election victory stolen .... Our Country has had enough, they
won't take it anymore! We hear you (and love you) from the Oval Office.”

35.
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G AUS#3 pm,“Iwill be speakingattheSAVEAMERICA RALLY
tomorrowontheEllipseat11AMEastern.Arrivecarly— doors open at
7 em. BIG CROWDS!”

perce tld lon Samy ,teDefendant etalone with he VisPresi. Whentesane od a N g
©. fh. Vice Presidentrefused 10agreetothe Defendant'srequestthatheobstructthe certification,the

DefendantgrewfrustratedandtoldtheVicePresidentthattheDefendantwouldhavetopublicly
i ' _ (Har Short)

TncoudVice Presidentssafetyand letedth headofthVicsPresidentsSecretServic deal] C0
PRE to

98. As crowds began o gather in Washington and were audible from the Oval Office, {Acne

the Defendant remarked to advisors thatthe crowd the following day on January 6 was going to

be “angry.”

99. Thatnight,the Defendantapprovedandcaused theDefendant's Campaign toissue

apubli statement that the Defendantknew,fromhis meeting with the Viee Presidentonlyhours

earlier,wasfalse:“TheVice PresidentandIareintotalagreementthattheVicePresidenthasthe

powertoact”

100. OnJanuary6,starting in the early morning hours, the Defendant again turned to

knowingly fase statements aimedatpressuring the Vice President o fraudulenly alter th election

outcome, and raised publicly the false expectation that the Vice President might do so:

” a Al i lyclaimed,“IfVice
Trump's Presider ike_Pence comes through forus, we will winthePresidency.
Presswe Many Stateswanttodecertify the mistake they made in certifying incorrect
Tieet & even fraudulent numbers in a process NOT approved by their State

2 Legislatures (which it must be). Mikecansend itback!”
Capongn

b. At8:17am, theDefendantissued aTweetthatfalselystated, “States want
on \[b 0 correct their votes, which they now know were based on irregularities

and fraud, plus corrupt process never received legislative approval. All
MikePencehastodoissendthemback totheStates,ANDWEWIN.Do.
it Mike,thisisatime forextreme courage!”

-36-
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101. OnthemorningofJanuary6,anagentoftheDefendant contacteda UnitedStates

Senatortoaskhimtohand-deliverdocumentstotheVicePresident. The agentthenfacilitatedthe.

receiptbytheSenator'sstaffofthefraudulentcertificates signe X it
di i a ts i

PresidentorArchivistbymail.When oneof the Senator's staffers contacteda staffer for the Vice

President by text messageto arrange for deliveryofwhat the Senator's staffer had been told were

“{alemate slate] of electors for MI and WI because archivist didn’ receive them,”th Vice
Phik ree

102. At11:15a.m., the Defendant called the Vice Presidentandagainpressuredhim to

fraudulently reject or return Biden’s legitimate electoral votes. The Vice President again refused.

Immediatelyafterthecall, the Defendant decidedto single outtheVicePresidentin public remarks.
. Twp

Seimskaaiimtiuiios, dosinglugisgediasbubedpumnllydeeluslosdithciof hidn . ee bre " his gua
a RS crgonts

states—butthatadvisorshad previously successfully advocatedberemoved.
£aitmon

103. Earlier that morning, the Defendant had selected CoS ) to join Co-
ition)

ise 1'in giving public remarks before his own. When they did so, based on knowingly

false election fraud claims,Co-Conspirator|andCo-Conspirator 2 intensifiedpressureonthe
Vice President (0 fraudulently obstruct the certification proceeding:

CoCo presi «
Eostmon § LMR

Giuliani ballots[.]” Healsoliedwhenheclaimedto “have lettersfromfive
Sethng, the egislatunssbegginguso senddsc sasothe oglu Re serien;,
owd vied andcalledfor“calby combat.”

w b. Co-Conspirator2toldthecrowd,“(Allwe are demandingofViee President
Pence isthisafternoonatoneo'clockhe let thelegislaturesofthestate look

into thissowegetto thebottomofitandtheAmericanpeopleknowwhetheewehavecontrolofthe directionofour governmentornot.We no

37.
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longer live in a self-governing republic if we can’t get the answer to this
question.”

104. Next,beginningat11:56am.,theDefendantmademultiple knowingly.false

statementsintegraltohiscriminalplans todefeatthefederal govermentfunction,obstructthe

certification,andinterferewith others”righttovoteandhavetheirvotescounted.TheDefendant

repeatedfalse claimsof election fraud, gavefalsehopethattheVice Presidentmightchangethe

Temp, electionoutcome,anddirected thecrowdinfrontofhim togototheCapitolasameansto obstruct

crowd — oe
oe Jovem the certificationandpressuretheVicePresidenttofraudulently obstructthecertification. The

Capitol Defendant's knowingly false statements for these purposes included:

a i nfraud,theVicePresident
col tion results,stating:

the election.All is i i

certainly one of
tional i ie has the

absoluterighttodoit. We're supposedtoprotect our
country, support our country, support our
Constitution, and protect our Constitution.

States want to revote. The states got defrauded.
‘They were given false information. They voted on
it. Now they want to recertify. They want it back.

AllVice PresidentPencehas to doissenditbackto
the states to recert becomepresidentand
you are ie

b. After the Defendant falsely stated that the Pennsylvania legislature wanted
“to recertify their votes. Theywantto recertify. Buttheonly waythatcan
happenisifMikePenceagrees osenditback,”thecrowdbegan to chant,
“Senditback.”

38.
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G. The Defendantalso sai thatregular rulesno longer applied, stating,“And
fraudbreaks upeverything,doesn’tit? When you catch somebody in a
fraud, you're allowed to go by very different rules.”

Finally, after exhorting that “we fight. We fight like hell. And if you don’

i MonksoFCos “he dof
prideandboldnessthattheyneedtotakebackourcountry.”

105. During and aftr the Defendant's remarks, thousandsofpeople marched toward the

Capitol.

“TheDefendants Exploitationofthe Violence and Chaos a the Capitol

106. Shorty before 1:00 pm., the Vice President issued a public statement explaining

that hisrole as President of the Senatea the certification proceeding that wasabouttobegin did

not include “unilateral authority to determine whichelectoral votes should be counted and which

should nol.”

107. Before the Defendant had finished speaking, crowd began (0 gathera the Capitol.

“Thereafter, a mass of people—including individuals who had traveled to Washingion and to the

Capitol a the Defendant’direction—broke through barriers cordoningoff the Capitol grounds

and advanced on the building, including by violently attacking law enforcement officers trying to

secure it.

108. The Defendant, who had returned to the White House after concluding his remarks,

watched events at the Capitol unfold on the television in thedining room next to the Oval Office.

109. At2:13 pam. afer more than an hourofsteady, violent advancement, the crowd at

the Capitol broke into the building.

110. Upon receiving news that individuals had breached the Capitol, theDefendant's

advisors told him that there was a riot there and that rioters had breached the building. When

39.
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advisors urgedthe Defendant to issue a calming message aimed at the rioters, the Defendant

refused, instead repeatedly remarkingthatthe peaplea the Capitolwere angry because the election

‘had been stolen.

111. At 2:24 p.m,after advisors had left the Defendant alone in his dining room, the

Defendant issued a Tweet intended to further delay and obstruct the certification: “Mike Pence

didn’t have the courage to do what should have been done to protect our Country and our

Constitution, giving States a chance to certify a corrected set of facts, not the fraudulent or

inaccurate ones which they were asked to previously certify. USA demands the truth!”

112. One minute later, at 2:25 p.m., the United States Secret Service was forced to

‘evacuate the Vice President to a secure location.

113. At the Capitol, throughout the afternoon, members of the crowd chanted, “Hang

Mike Pence!”; “Where is Pence? Bring him out!”; and “Traitor Pence!”

114. TheDefendantrepeatedlyrefused toapprove amessagedirecting rioterstoleave

theCapitol,asurgedbyhismost senioradvisors—including the White House Counsel, a Deputy

‘White House Counsel, theChiefof Staff, a Deputy Chiefof Staff, and a Senior Advisor.Instead,

theDefendantissuedtwoTweets thatdidnotaskrioterstoleave theCapitol butinsteadfalsely

suggested thatthe crowdattheCapitolwasbeingpeaceful including:
a At2:38pm, “Please support our Capitol Police and Law Enforcement.

They are truly on the sideofour Country. Stay peaceful!”

b. At3:13pm,“1 am asking for everyone at the U.S. Capitol to remain
peaceful. No violence! Remember, WE are the Party of Law & Order —
respect the Law and our great men and women in Blue. Thank you!”

115. A{3:00 pm.the Defendanthadaphonecall withthe MinorityLeaderofthe United
States House of Representatives. The Defendanttold the Minority Leaderthatthecrowdatthe

Capitolwas more upset about theelectionthan theMinority Leaderwas.

40-
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116. At4:17 pan,theDefendantreleased a videomessageonTwitter thathehadjust
tapedin the WhiteHouseRoseGarden. Init the Defendantrepeatedtheknowingly flse claim
that“{w]ehad anelection thatwasstolen fromus,”andfinally askedindividuals toleave the

Capitol,whiletellingthem thattheywer “veryspecial”and that“weloveyou."

117. Afrthe4:17pam.Tweet, as theDefendant joinedothers in theouter Oval Office

10watchtheattack on the Capitol on television, the Defendant said, “See, thisiswhat happens

‘whentheytrytostealan election. These people arc angry. These people are really angry about

it. Thisiswhat happens.”

118. At6:01pam,theDefendanttweeted, “These are th things and events that happen

whena sacred landslide election victory is so unceremoniously & viciously stripped away from

great patriots who have been badly& unfairly treatedforso long. Go home with love & in peace.

Rememberthisdayforever!”

119. On the evening of January 6, the Defendant and Co-Conspirator 1 attempted to

exploit the violence and chaos at the Capitol by calling lawmakers to convince them, based on

knowingly false claims ofelection fraud, to delay the certification, including:

5, ‘The Defendant, throughWhiteHouseaides,attemptedtoreachtwoUnitedTVop ut : Fit miiio m J
Shi rrying

to dehruud b. From 6:59 p.m. until 7:18 p.m,Co-ConspiratorIplacedcallstofiveUnited
Awmevica St dStatesRepresentative.

even aby e Soe
+e If Copilol SenatorswhomtheDefendant had dircetedCo-Conspirator110callanStovming auemptto enlistinfurtherdelayingthecertification.

d. In or i i ited
si enatorthatsaid,“Weneedyou,our Republicanfriends,(0try tojust
Dowddannscoutdam gidsiogenas imino

‘you.And I know they’re reconvening at eight tonight butthe only strategy
‘we can follow is to object to numerous states and raise issues so that we get
ourselves into tomorrow-~-ideally until the endof tomorrow.”

ane
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In another message intendedforanotherUnited States Senator, Co-
CeibaotSa fraud,
including that the vote counts certified by the states to Congress were
incorrect and thatthe governors who had certified knew they were incorrect;
that “illegal immigrants” had voted in substantial numbers in Arizona; and
that “Georgia gave you a number in which 65,000 people who were
underage voted.” Co-Conspirator 1 also claimed that the Vice President's
actions had been surprising and asked the Senator to “object to cvry state
and kindofspread this out a lite bit lkea filibuster”

120. i
Pat Cipat one)of theDefendant, tie White HouseCounsel calledtheDefendant to askhim towithdrawany

objectionsand allow the certification.TheDefendant refused.

121. Theattackon theCapitol obstructedanddelayed thecertification for approximately
sixhours,untiltheSenateandHouseofRepresentativescameback into session separately at
. . _

Eastman, 2 A 1684pmSEALER,etdtheVis resident's Counsel advocating
shil arr *
at 11743 pin thattheVice President violatethe lawandseck futherdelayofthecertification. Co-Conspirator 2

askmen wrote,“ implore you to considerondmore relatively minor violation [of the ECA] and adjourn
Frying fo ser AT
Perce bo for 10days to allow the legislatures o finish thei investigations, as well a to alowa full forensic

law.
real TeLGit of the massive amountofillegal ativiy that has oscured here.”

123. AU3:41am.onJanuary7,a President ofthe Senate, theVice President announced
thecertified resultsofthe2020presidentialelectioninfsvorofBiden

124. The Defendantandhisco-conspiratorscommitted one ormoreoftheacts to effect
theobjectofthe conspiracy alleged above inParagraph 13, 15-16, 18.22, 24, 26,28, 30.33, 35,
37:30,41,43-44, 46,50, 52, 54, 56, 57-64, 67, 71.75, 78-82, 84, 85, 87:97, 99-100, 102-104, 11,
114, 116, 118-119,and 122.

(In violation ofTitle 18, United Sates Code, Section 371)

ae
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COUNTTWO
(ConspiracytoObstrutanOfficialProseding—13U.S.C.§ 181200)

125. Theallgationscontainedinparagraphs1through 4and8through123ofthis
Indictmentare re-allegedandfully incorporatedherebyreference.

126. From on or about November 14, 2020, through on or about January 7, 2021, in the

Districtof Columbia and elsewhere, the Defendant,

DONALD J. TRUMP,
did knowingly combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with co-conspirators, known and.

unknown to the Grand Jury, tocorruptlyobstruct and impedean official proceeding,thatis,the

certificationoftheelectoralvote, in violationof Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(c)(2).

(In violationofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 1512())

ge
co-conspirators
& others yer
ident fed

a.
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count THREE
(Obstruction of, and Attemptto Obstruct, an Official

Proceeding—18U.S.C.§§1512(6)2),2)

127. Theallegationscontainedinparagraphs1through4and§through123ofthis

Indictmentare re-alleged and fully incorporated here by reference.

128. From on or about November 14, 2020, through on or about January 7, 2021, in the

District ofColumbia and elsewhere, the Defendant,

DONALD J. TRUMP,

attempted to, and did, corruptlyobstructand impede an official proceeding, that is,thecertification

of theelectoralvote.

(In violationofTitle 18, United States Code, Sections 1512(c)(2), 2)

5 1b Viotea hos been chaqeduf This charge |Cvime.

an
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COUNT FOUR

(ConspiracyAgainstRights—18U.S.C.§241)
129. Theallegations containedinparagraphs | throu 8 through123 of thi

Indictmentarere-alleged and fullyincorporated hereby reference.

130. From on or about November 14, 2020, through on or about January 20, 2021, in the

DistrictofColumbia and elsewhere, the Defendant,

DONALD J. TRUMP,
did knowingly combine, conspire, confederate, and agree withco-conspirators, known and

unknown to the Grand Jury, to injure, oppress, threaten, and intimidate one or more persons in the

free exercise and enjoymentof aright and privilege secured to them by the Constitution and laws

of Und St—ietis iorsvommiislaerdspsnngd. Bl viel onto count,
(In violationofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 241)
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